# Performance Enhancement of Solar Photovoltaic Module by the Application Of Different Coolants over the Photovoltaic Module Surface

Aboagye, B.<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Gyamfi, S.<sup>1</sup>, Caesar Puoza, J.<sup>2</sup>

#### Abstract

High temperature affects the efficiency of solar photovoltaic modules and hence the electrical power production. The study identified a suitable coolant that could best reduce the temperature of solar photovoltaic module and increase the efficiency of the solar module. The properties of several coolants were reviewed and four potential coolants selected for application on the solar photovoltaic module surface. Experiment was designed for the application of each of the four coolants. The performance of each coolant was evaluated and the best coolant was selected. The study identified sugar solution, water, Abro radiator coolant and soluble oil as the potential suitable coolants. The percentage increase in efficiency for soluble oil was 5.3% followed by 3.8% for water and then 3.5% for sugar solution whiles the Abro radiator coolant was last with 3% after the application of the coolants. Since soluble oil record the higher percentage increase in efficiency, it was identified as the best coolant for the solar photovoltaic module. However, before soluble oil coolant could be used for performance enhancement of solar photovoltaic modules, the cost-benefit analysis of application of the coolants and their chemical properties which could damage the photovoltaic module should be studied.

#### Keywords

Coolants, Efficiency, Performance Enhancement, Solar Photovoltaic Module, Temperature

<sup>1</sup> Regional Center for Excellence in Energy and Environmental Sustainability, School of Engineering, University of Energy and Natural Resources (UENR), Sunyani – Ghana – Ghana Email: autobeespoly@yahoo.co.uk

<sup>2</sup> Department of Mechanical Engineering, Sunyani Technical University, Sunyani – Ghana – Ghana.

\*Corresponding author: autobeespoly@yahoo.co.uk

Contents						
1	Introduction	1				
2	Materials and Methods	2				
2.1	Selection of Coolants	2				
2.2	Experimental set-up	2				
2.3	Experimental procedure	3				
2.4	Calculation of percentage increase in efficiency	3				
3	Results and Discussion	3				
3.1	Measured parameters	3				
3.2	Temperature and efficiency of module before and after application of coolants	<b>D</b> -				
4	Conclusions	5				
Ref	References 5					

# 1. Introduction

Electricity is the key to the development of the global economy and thus, countries around the world give significance attention to the provision of electricity to their citizens [1]. However, lack of access to electricity is still a major issue in the world particularly in under developed and developing countries. It was estimated that over 1.3 billion people worldwide lack access to electricity [2]. Ghana like other developing countries faces major challenges in providing the needed electricity in a reliable and sustainable manner [3]. The electricity produced from fossil fuel amounted to 67.2% of the total electricity production in the world in 2013 [4]. However, due to the negative environmental impacts and climate change associated with the use of fossil fuels, fossil fuel pricing, social demand, depletion of fossil fuel and reduction in renewable energy pricing, the renewable energy sources have gained increasing attention of governments and other stakeholders in the renewable energy sub-sector [5].

The promotion of solar photovoltaic (PV) sources for electricity supply is one of the leading sources among the renewable energies and the trend is envisaged to continue in the coming years [6]. The Solar PV systems are cost effective in many remote applications such as lighting, water pumping and irrigation applications. Electricity generation from solar PV systems has been identified as one of the promising renewable energy alternatives because of the abundance of solar radiation, rapid reduction in electricity production cost, highly dependable energy supply and low maintenance [7-11]. The development of solar photovoltaic systems globally is gradually increasing. The total global capacity was 3.1 GW in 2005 [12], over 150 GW in early 2014 [2] and increased to 227 GW in 2015 [12]. The PV capacity in Africa has increased from 26 MW in 2000 to 1334 MW in 2014 [2] and in Ghana, utility scale solar PV electricity generation stands at about 42.5 MW which constitutes less than 2% of electricity generation capacity [12, 13].

The main factor that hinders the solar PV electricity generation is cost. Solar PV array is almost 70% of the capital investment of PV power system [14] and hence, in order to improve the cost effectiveness of PV array powered systems, the PV array should be efficiently used to pay off the high costs. Temperature is one of the significant factors in the performance of PV systems because the output power of solar PV modules is dependent on the operating temperature of the solar cells. The solar PV modules specifications are stated in terms of current, voltage and power at standard test condition (STC) temperature of 25°C [15]. However, the conditions specified in STC hardly occur in the actual outdoor conditions since solar module temperature is often higher than 25°C. The conversion efficiency of solar PV module is about 15% [16]. The residual energy is converted into heat energy which raises the operating temperature of the solar PV system and decreases the electricity generation capacity of the solar PV module. The heat energy generated also has the tendency to damage the structure of the PV module which decreases the conversion efficiency and shortens the lifespan of the PV systems. If the heat energy build-up is not dissipated, the temperature of the PV module rises and the output power of the module decreases [16]. Studies show that high temperatures reduce the efficiency of the PV array and hence increases cost of the PV array required to generate the expected electricity [17-19]. According to Gilman et al. [20], the output power of solar PV systems varies inversely with the operating temperature of the module and when the temperature of the module exceeds 25°C, the output power of the module decreases by 0.5% for every 1°C rise in temperature [21]. The decrease in the efficiency of the solar PV module tends to decrease the power production from the system and consequently, the quantity of electricity expected to be generated from the solar PV system may not be achieved. This increases the generation cost and thus, makes the solar PV systems unattractive alternative energy source.

In the quest to identify efficient cooling technology for solar PV modules, several researches have been carried out to analyse the performance of solar cells using different cooling methods. In many instances, water and air are considered as the suitable coolants for the solar PV module to increase the electrical efficiency of the module [22-24]. However, it has been found that water cooling technique is more effective than air cooling technique [10, 25]. Zubeer et al., [26] also reviewed different PV cells cooling techniques such as heat sink cooling, array air

duct cooling beneath the PV panel, front surface water spray cooling and back surface water cooling to assess their effects on the performance of solar PV modules and concluded that water spray cooling technique best improved the performance of the solar PV modules. Thus, water is often used as a coolant for the PV modules to decrease the module temperature and increases the module performance [17-19, 27-30]. However, the potentials of other liquid coolants for the PV modules have not been considered. It is therefore, imperative to study the potentials of other coolants to enhance the performance of solar PV modules to ensure that solar PV systems operate reliably and efficiently. This research sought to identify the suitable coolant that would best reduce the temperature of solar PV modules and improve the efficiency of solar PV systems for sustainable power generation. When the efficiency of the PV array is increased, less PV modules are required, less space is needed and cost of power generation is reduced.

# 2. Materials and Methods

## 2.1 Selection of Coolants

A coolant is any kind of fluid which flows around or through a device to absorb the heat energy generated in the device and release it to the environment to avoid overheating. For efficient heat transfer, some of the important factors to be considered in the choice of liquid cooling technology for a particular application include cost, availability, compatibility, thermal stability, low toxicity, low corrosivity, high flash point, low freezing point, low viscosity, specific heat and high thermal conductivity [31]. The properties of several coolants were reviewed and based on the above factors the following coolants were selected for the study: water, sugar solution made of sugar/water 1:40 (wt./wt.), Abro radiator coolant and soluble oil coolant made of soluble oil/water 1:100 (v/v).

### 2.2 Experimental set-up

The experiment was conducted at the Department of Energy and Environmental Engineering of University of Energy and Nature Resources in Sunvani, Ghana. The experimental set-up was designed to investigate the potentials of four coolants in cooling the PV module and improving its efficiency. The set-up consists of one polycrystalline silicon module with peak power of 40W, battery, inverter, TQ TE4 photovoltaic load, solarimeter (pyranometer), Ammeter and voltmeter. The solarimeter, Ammeter and voltmeter are inbuilt and connected to TQ TE4 photovoltaic cell where the readings are recorded. The module was manufactured by BP Solar and coded BP340. The module is inclined toward south with tilt angle of  $30^{\circ}$  to the horizontal. Fig. 1 shows the set-up of the experiment conducted during the study and the reference module parameters is displayed in TABLE 1.

Performance Enhancement of Solar Photovoltaic Module by the Application Of Different Coolants over the Photovoltaic Module Surface — 3/6



Figure 1. Experimental setup

Table 1	L.	Reference	module	parameters
---------	----	-----------	--------	------------

Parameter	Peak value
Туре	Polycrystalline
Area	650mm *537mm wide
Peak power	40W
Warranted minimum (Pmax)	36W
Voltage (Vmp)	17.3V
Current (Imp)	2.31A
Open circuit voltage (Voc)	21.8V
Short circuit current (Isc)	2.54A
Minimum Bypass Diode	$5\mathrm{A}$
Maximum series fuse	20A

#### 2.3 Experimental procedure

The experiment was carried out under the same environmental condition to provide a level ground for comparison. The experiment started at 9.00am and ended at 4.00pm. The surface of the module was cleaned with clean water and allowed to dry before measurements were taken. The module was mounted in the sun as in Fig. 1 and the orientation measured with the angle meter. Before the application of the coolants, the ambient temperature was measured with the thermometer. The temperature of the module was also measured with a thermometer. The module temperature readings were taken from three different points on the module (at the ends and at middle) and the average calculated. As a precautionary measure, the thermometer was shielded from the sun to avoid the influence of the sun on the thermometer readings. The solarimeter (pyranometer) was used to measure the irradiance and the voltage, current and irradiance were recorded from the TQ TE4 Photovoltaic cell. After taken the above readings, 500ml of the coolant was applied on the surface of the module with the help of measuring cup and a brush. The module was left to cool for three minutes and the measurements were taken again. The procedure was repeated every one hour for each of the coolants.

# 2.4 Calculation of percentage increase in efficiency

The efficiency,  $\eta$  of the PV module was computed from the formula:

$$\eta = \frac{P_{max}}{AG}$$
$$P_{max} = I_{max}V_{max}$$
Where

 $P_{max}$  = is the maximum power generated from the PV module in W

A is the surface area of the module in  $m^2$ 

G is the solar irradiance incident on the module in  ${\rm W}/m^2$ 

 $I_{max} = maximum power current in A$ 

 $V_{max} = maximum power voltage in V$ 

The percentage increase in efficiency was calculated from the formula below:

 $\frac{Changeinefficiency}{Efficiencybefore application of coolant} \times 100\%$ 

# 3. Results and Discussion

#### 3.1 Measured parameters

Table 2 depicts the measured average parameters during the experiment.

# **3.2** Temperature and efficiency of module before and after application of coolants

The Fig. 2 shows the graph of temperature of the module before and after the application of various coolants as well as the change in temperature due to the application of the coolant. It was observed from the graph that when each of the coolants was applied, the temperature of the module reduced. The change in temperature for soluble oil was 2.1°C followed by 1.8°C for Abro radiator coolant, 1.5°C for sugar solution and 1.4°C for water. Water is a popular substance used in cooling solar PV modules and has been found to lower operating temperature of PV modules and increase power output [8, 30, 32-36]. However, this study has revealed that soluble oil record the higher percentage change in temperature than water and the other coolants as displayed in Fig. 2a. Soluble oil was therefore, identified as the better coolant for the solar PV module than water in terms of reduction in temperature.

The Fig. 3 shows the graph of efficiency of the module before and after the application of various coolants as well as the percentage change in efficiency due to the application of the coolant. It indicates the reading of the efficiency against the various coolants. It was revealed that when each of the coolants was applied, the efficiency increased. The percentage change in efficiency for soluble oil was 5.3% followed by 3.8% for water and then 3.5% for sugar solution whiles the Abro radiator coolant was

Coolant	Module temperature (oC)			cIrradiance, $(W/m2)$	cPower (W)	cEfficiency (%)				
	Before	After	Change	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After	Percentage change $(\%)$
Sugar solution	39.1	37.6	1.5	609.4	617.6	25.8	26.9	12.08	12.43	3
Water	38.9	37.5	1.4	613	623.5	25.5	26.9	11.87	12.32	3.8
Abro radiator	38.5	36.7	1.8	656	667.3	27.1	28.5	11.8	12.21	3.5
Soluble oil	39.4	37.3	2.1	638.1	641.6	26.3	27.9	11.79	12.42	5.3

 Table 2. Measured parameters



**Figure 2.** Module temperatures before and after application of different coolants

last with 3%. Although Abro radiator coolant and sugar solution had higher drops in temperature that water, the percentage change in efficiency for water was higher than that of Abro radiator coolant and sugar solution. This is attributed to that sticky nature of sugar solution and the colour of Abro radiator coolant which prevented the solar radiation from reaching the module surface. Several studies show that water cooling enhances the power output and the efficiency of solar PV modules [32-34]. However, this study has revealed that soluble oil recorded the highest percentage change in efficiency compared to water, sugar solution and the Abro radiator coolant. This shows that soluble oil is the better coolant for the solar PV module than water in terms of improvement in module efficiency.

Fig. 4 displays the temperature and efficiency of the PV module against the various coolants. It shows the graph of temperature and efficiency of the PV module before and after the application of various coolants as well as the percentage change in efficiency due to the application of the coolants. It was found from the graph that when each of the coolants was applied over the module surface, the temperature of the module reduced and efficiency increased. The percentage change in soluble oil was 5.3% followed by 3.8% for water and then 3.5% for sugar solution whiles the Abro radiator coolant was



**Figure 3.** Efficiency of module before and after application of different coolants

last with 3%. Several studies show that water cooling reduces the operating temperature of solar PV modules and enhances the power output and the efficiency of modules [30, 32-36]. Zubeer et al., [26] reviewed different PV cells cooling techniques and concluded that water is the best coolant for improved performance of PV modules. However, this study has identified soluble oil as a substance that cools the solar PV modules and enhances its efficiency better than water. Thus, soluble oil was identified as the better coolant for the solar PV module than water.



**Figure 4.** Temperature and efficiency of module before and after application of coolants

# 4. Conclusions

The study sought to identify a suitable coolant that could best reduce the temperature of PV array to improve the efficiency of solar PV systems. Four potential suitable coolants namely sugar solution, water, Abro radiator coolant and soluble oil were selected for application on solar PV module surface. The performance of the selected coolants has been evaluated by applying them over the solar PV module surface. The application of each of the coolants over the surface of the module resulted in decrease in module temperature and increase in module efficiency. The percentage increase in efficiency for soluble oil was 5.3% followed by 3.8% for water and then 3.5%for sugar solution whiles the Abro radiator coolant was last with 3% after the application of the coolants. Soluble oil was the best in reducing the module temperature and highest in improving the module efficiency. Thus, soluble oil was identified as the best coolant for improving the performance of solar PV modules. However, the cost involved in getting the coolants, how the coolant should be applied and cost of application, and the chemical properties of the coolants which could cause material damage to the module parts and subsequently damage the PV module permanently were not considered in this study. Thus, these areas need further studies before soluble oil coolant could be used for performance enhancement of solar photovoltaic modules.

### References

[1] WORLD BANK, Designing Sustainable Off-Grid Rural Electrification Projects: Principles and Practices: Operational Guidance for World Bank Group Staff. 2008, World Bank: Available at http://siteresources.worldbank.org/EXTENERGY2/ Resources/OffgridGuidelines.pdf (Accessed 20/01/2017).

- [2] IRENA, Renewable Power Generation Costs in 2014. 2015, IRENA: Bonn.
- [3] GHANA ENERGY COMMISSION, Strategic National Energy Plan 2006 – 2020; Main Report. 2006, Ghana Energy Commission: available at www.energycom.gov.gh (Accessed 22/04/2017).
- [4] IEA, KEY ELECTRICITY TRENDS FROM EX-CERPTS FROM ELECTRICITY INFORMATION, 2015 Edition. 2015, IEA: Report online available at: www.iea.org/statistics/topics/electricity (Accessed 02/03/2017).
- [5] N. L. PANWAR, S. C. KAUSHIK, AND S. KOTHARI, Role of renewable energy sources in environmental protection: a review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev. 15, 2011: 1513–1524.
- [6] IEA PVPS, 2014 Snapshot of Global PV Markets, in Report IEA PVPS T1-26. 2015, IEA PVPS: Report online available at: (http://www.ieapvps.org/index.php?id=trends0) (Accessed 02/03/17).
- [7] T. M. RAZYKOV, C. S. FEREKIDES, D. MOREL, E. STEFANAKOS., H. S. ULLAL, AND H. M. UPADHYAYA, Solar photovoltaic electricity: Current status and future prospects. Sol Energy. 85(8), 2011:1580–608.
- [8] L. ZHU, Y. P. WANG, Z. L. FANG, Y. SUN AND Q. W. HUANG, An effective heat dissipation method for densely packed solar cells under high concentrations. Solar Energy Mat Solar Cells 94(2), 2010: 133-140.
- [9] A. A. SAYRAN, O. S. OMAR, AND M. Y. KAMIL, Improving The Efficiency of Polycrystalline Solar Panel Via Water Immersion Method. Int J Innovative Res Sci Engg and Technol. 3, 2014: 83-89.
- [10] X. TANG, Z. QUAN, AND Y. ZHAO, Experimental Investigation of Solar Panel Cooling by a Novel Micro Heat Pipe Array. Energy Power Eng. 2, 2010: 171-174.
- [11] H. G. TEO, P. S. LEE, AND M. N. A. HAWLADER, An active cooling system for photovoltaic modules. Appl Energy. 90, 2012: 309–315.
- [12] GOVERNMENT OF GHANA, GHANA RENEWABLE EN-ERGY MASTER PLAN. 2019, Government of Ghana: Accra, Ghana.
- [13] GHANA ENERGY COMMISSION, Energy supply and demand outlook for Ghana, in in Final Report April, 2017. 2017, Energy Commission: Ghana: Acra, Ghana.
- [14] IEC, Crystalline silicon terrestrial photovoltaic (PV) modules—design qualification and type approval 2005, in IEC 61215. 2005, IEC.

- [15] S. KALOGIROU, Solar energy engineering: processes and systems. 2009, New York, USA: Academic Press.
- [16] S. MEHROTRA, P. RAWAT, M. DEBBARMA AND K. SUDHAKA, Performance of A Solar Panel with Water Immersion Cooling Technique. Int J Sci Environ Technol. 3, 2014: 1161 –1162.
- [17] S. KRAUTER, Increased electrical yield via water flow over the front of photovoltaic panels. Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells. 82, 2004: 131-137.
- [18] M. ABDOLZADEH, M. AMERI, AND M. A. MEHRA-BIAN, Effects of water spray over the photovoltaic modules on the performance of a photovoltaic water pumping system under different operating conditions. Energy Sources. 33, 2011: 1546–1555.
- [19] A. KORDZADEH, The effects of nominal power of array and system head on the operation of photovoltaic water pumping set with array surface covered by a film of water. Renew Energy. 35, 2010: 1098–1102.
- [20] P. GILMAN, N. BLAIR, AND AND C. CAMERON, Solar Energy Costs: The Solar Advisor Model, in Solar Cells and their Applications. Second Edition, (eds. L. Fraas and L. Partain), Editor., (Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2010). p. 472-493.
- [21] Z. J. WENG AND H. H. YANG, Primary Analysis on Cooling Technology of Solar Cells under Concentrated Illumination. Energy Technology. 29, 2010: 507-517.
- [22] D. M. CHAPIN, C. S. FULLER, AND G. L. PEAR-SON, Hybrid photovoltaic and thermal solar-collector Designed for Natural circulation of water. Appl Energy. 83, 2006: 199- 210.
- [23] L. ZHU, R. F. BOEHM, Y. WANG, C. HALFORD AND Y. SUN, Water immersion cooling of PV cells in a high concentration system. Solar Energy Mat Solar Cells. 95, 2011: 538-535.
- [24] B. B. GARDAS AND M. V. TENDOLKAR, Design of Cooling System for Photovoltaic Panel for Increasing its Electrical Efficiency. Int J Mechanical Prod Eng. 1, 2012: 63-67.
- [25] K. A. MOHARRAM, M. S. ABD-ELHADY, H. A. KANDIL AND H. EL-SHERIF, Enhancing the performance of photovoltaic panels by water cooling. Ain Shams Engineering Journal 4, 2013: 869–877.
- [26] S. A. ZUBEER, H.A. MOHAMMED, AND M. ILKAN, A Review of Photovoltaic Cells Cooling Techniques, in E3S Web of Conferences 22, 00205, (ASEE17). 2017, EDP Sciences.
- [27] K. AZADEH, The effects of nominal power of array and system head on the operation of photovoltaic water pumping set with array surface covered by a film of water. Renewable Energy. 35, 2010: 1098–1102.

- [28] A. KLUTH, Using water as a coolant to increase solar panel efficiency. California State science fair. April, 2008.
- [29] M. ABDOLZADEH AND M. AMERI, Improving the effectiveness of a photovoltaic water pumping system by spraying water over the front of photovoltaic cells. Renew Energy. 34, 2009: 91–96.
- [30] R. HOSSEINI, N. HOSSEINI, AND H. KHO-RASANIZADEH, An experimental study of combining a photovoltaic system with a heating system. World renewable energy congress. 8, 2011: 2993-3000.
- [31] S. C. MOHAPATRA, An Overview of Liquid Coolants for Electronics Cooling". Electronics Cooling. 2006: Available at https://www.electronicscooling.com/2006/05/an-overview-of-liquid-coolantsfor-electronics-cooling/ (Accessed 12/06/17).
- [32] H. M. BAHAIDARAH AND S. REHMAN. Experimental Evaluation of the Performance of a Photovoltaic Panel with Water Cooling. in Conference Record of the IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists Conference. June 2013. 2013.
- [33] M. M. MUSTHAFA, Enhancing Photoelectric Conversion Efficiency of Solar Panel by Water Cooling. Journal of Fundamentals of Renewable Energy and Applications. 5(4), 2015: 166. doi:10.4172/20904541.1000166.
- [34] Y. M. IRWAN, W. Z. LEOW, M. IRWANTO, M. FAREQ, A. R. AMELIA, N. GOMESH AND I. SAFWATI, Indoor Test Performance of PV Panel through Water Cooling Method. 2015 International Conference on Alternative Energy in Developing Countries and Emerging Economies. Energy Procedia. 79, 2015: 604 – 611.
- [35] A. PRADHAN, S. M. ALI, S. K. S. PARASHAR AND P. PAIKRAY, Water Cooling Method to Improve Efficiency of Photovoltaic Module, in International conference on Signal Processing, Communication, Power and Embedded System (SCOPES)-2016. 2016.
- [36] A. PRADHAN AND S. M. ALI, Analysis of solar PV performance with change in temperature. International Journal of Applied Engineering Research. 11(7), 2016: 5225-5227.